FILED 10-11-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

## IN SUPREME COURT

### Case No. 2023AP000200

In the matter of the mental commitment of J.L.C.: WINNEBAGO COUNTY,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

J.L.C.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-3440 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner

#

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether the County failed to disprove that J.L.C. may be provided protective placement or protective services under chapter 55, such that he was ineligible to be involuntarily committed under chapter 51.

The jury returned a verdict finding J.L.C. mentally ill, treatable, and dangerous under the fourth and fifth standards of dangerousness set forth in Wis. Stat. §§ 51.20(1)(a)2.d. and 2.e. Under both of these standards, an individual is not dangerous if they may be provided protective placement or protective services under chapter 55. <sup>1</sup> Dane Cty v. Kelly M., 2011 WI App 69, ¶18, 333 Wis. 2d 719, 798 N.W.2d 697 (discussing the "chapter 55 exclusion").

The court of appeals dismissed the appeal as moot. *Winnebago Cty v. J.L.C.*, No.2023AP200, unpublished slip op.  $\P\P20-22$  (Wis. Ct. App. Aug 23, 2023). (App.13-14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.d ("[n]o substantial probability of harm exists . . . (if (respondent) may be provided protective placement or protective services under ch. 55"); Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.e. ("[t]he probability of suffering severe mental, emotional, or physical harm is not substantial under this subd. 2.e. if . . . the individual may be provided protective placement or protective services under chapter 55...").

2. Whether the County made improper closing arguments when it relied on facts not in evidence about the chapter 55 exclusion and shifted the burden of proof to J.L.C.

J.L.C.'s trial counsel objected to the County's closing arguments. The circuit court overruled counsel's objections. (R.74:179-180; App.34-35).

The court of appeals dismissed the appeal as moot. J.L.C., No.2023AP200,  $\P$  20-22. (App.13-14).

3. Whether the court of appeals improperly dismissed J.L.C.'s appeal as moot.

The court of appeals dismissed the appeal as moot. J.L.C., No.2023AP200, unpublished slip op. ¶¶20-22. (App.13-14). The court of appeals acknowledged this Court's decisions in Marathon Cty v. D.K., 2020 WI 8, ¶25, 390 Wis. 2d 50, 937 N.W.2d 901 and Sauk Cty v. S.A.M., 2022 WI 46, ¶27, 402 Wis. 2d 379, 975 N.W.2d 162, which held that appeals from expired commitment orders were not moot. However, the court of appeals distinguished J.L.C.'s appeal based on the fact that J.L.C. has a guardian and was convicted of a felony.<sup>2</sup> J.L.C., No.2023AP200, ¶22. (App.14).

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  See Wis. Stat. § 302.055 (Department of Corrections authority to transfer individuals to the Wisconsin Resource Center for individualized care).

#### **CRITERIA FOR REVIEW**

J.L.C. is serving a criminal sentence, and is presently housed at the Wisconsin Resource Center. (WRC). The fact that J.L.C. is serving a prison sentence at WRC is a critical fact underlying each of the issues in this case. The County petitioned to involuntarilv commit J.L.C. As grounds for dangerousness, the County alleged two standards that both contain a "chapter 55 exclusion." A person cannot be found dangerous under Wis. Stat. §§ 51.20(1)(a)2.d. or 2.e. if they may be provided protective placement or protective services under chapter 55. J.L.C. argued that the County did not disprove the chapter 55 exclusion. J.L.C. additionally objected multiple times to the County's closing arguments about the chapter 55 exclusion. The circuit court overruled his objections, and, following the jury verdict, entered an order of commitment and order authorizing involuntary medication and treatment.

On appeal, the County argued that the chapter 55 exclusion did not apply to J.L.C. based on facts specific to J.L.C., but also based on broader claims that, if accepted, would effectively mean that an individual serving a sentence at WRC can never meet the chapter 55 exclusion. This case presents the Court with an opportunity to examine and apply the chapter 55 exclusion to an individual who is serving a prison sentence and is presently housed at the WRC.

The court of appeals dismissed J.L.C.'s appeal as moot. J.L.C., No.2023AP200,  $\P{22}$ . (App.14). It

acknowledged that, in *D.K.*, 390 Wis. 2d 50, ¶25, this Court held that an appeal from an original commitment was not moot because of the firearm ban that was tied to the commitment order. Subsequently, in *S.A.M.*, 402 Wis. 2d 379, ¶27, this Court held that an appeal from a recommitment order was also not moot based both on the firearm ban and the liability for costs of care tied to the commitment order.

The court of appeals distinguished D.K. and S.A.M., based on the fact that J.L.C. has a guardian and was convicted of a felony. J.L.C., No.2023AP200, ¶22. (App.14). In his Appellant's Brief, J.L.C. asserted that his appeal was not moot. (Appellant's Brief at 7 n.1). The County did not respond to J.L.C.'s assertion or otherwise argue that the appeal was moot. Seven days after J.L.C.'s appeal was decided, the court of appeals decided another case involving an individual who was involuntarily committed while at the WRC. Winnebago Cty v. C.H., No. 2023AP505, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. Aug. 30, 2023). (App.55-67). The court of appeals discussed mootness at length, and suggested that the appeal was in fact moot, but decided the appeal anyway. Id., ¶¶13-17. (App. 61-63). These successive opinions suggest that the issue of mootness for individuals presently serving sentences at the WRC is likely to recur.

This case presents the Court the opportunity to consider how the chapter 55 exclusion applies to individuals facing involuntary commitment while serving a prison sentence at the WRC, and also, to consider whether there is a different mootness rule for

6

individuals in these circumstances. These questions are not specifically fact-bound, but instead have broader application to other individuals similarly situated to J.L.C. Thus, this petition meets the criterion for review provided under Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)3. because "a decision by the supreme court will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law" and the question presented is "not factual in nature but rather is a question of law of the type that is likely to recur unless resolved" by this Court.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Winnebago County filed a petition to involuntarily commit J.L.C. under Wis. Stat. § 51.20. (R.2). Accompanying the petition was a letter from J.L.C.'s treating psychiatrist, Dr. George Monese. (R.4:1). The letter explained that J.L.C. was a 67-year old man with a long history mental illness. (R.4:1). J.L.C. was diagnosed with schizophrenia and had also suffered a traumatic brain injury. (R.4:1). J.L.C. had a permanent guardianship of the person. (R.4:1). See Wis. Stat. § 54.10(3)(a)2. J.L.C. was serving a prison sentence, and was placed at the WRC. (R.4:1).

On June 24, 2022, the court held a probable cause hearing. (R.73). J.L.C.'s attorney made an oral motion to dismiss, arguing that there was no substantial probability of harm, as defined in the alleged standards of dangerousness—Wis. Stat.  $\S$  51.20(1)(a)2.d. and 2.e.—because J.L.C. had a guardian, and chapter 55 protective placement or

7

services could be provided to him. (R.73:4).<sup>3</sup> The court deferred the motion. (R.73:6).

The court appointed two examiners to examine J.L.C.: Dr. Yogesh Pareek and Dr. JR Musunuru. (R.19). Dr. Pareek later testified at trial and his report was introduced into evidence. (R.74:85, *see* R.62:1-5).

Both parties filed statement letters on July 26, 2022, about the appropriateness of a chapter 55 proceeding as opposed to a chapter 51 proceeding, given J.L.C.'s circumstances.<sup>4</sup> In short, the County argued that chapter 55 protective placement was not possible because J.L.C. was at the WRC. (R.43). It further asserted that, although protective services were available, there were "logistical challenges." (R.43:2). J.L.C.'s statement letter asserted the applicability of the chapter 55 exclusion, and further asserted that a medication order could be entered under Wis. Stat. § 55.14, if necessary. (R.42:1-2). At the July 29, 2022, pretrial hearing, the court determined that the chapter 51 proceeding would continue, but indicated that the issue may need to be addressed in the future because J.L.C. had been suffering from persistent mental illness for "many, many years." (R.72:3).

A jury trial occurred on August 2, 2022. (R.74). During opening arguments, J.L.C.'s counsel asserted

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  See Kelly M., 333 Wis. 2d 719, ¶18 (discussing the "Ch. 55 exclusion").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> There was also significant litigation about venue; however, that issue is not on appeal.

that J.L.C. had a guardian, and that he could receive protective services under chapter 55. (R.74:55).

The County called three witness. First to testify Dr. Pareek. He testified that J.L.C. had was schizoaffective disorder. (R.74:61). He testified that J.L.C. was expressing paranoid, delusional, and violent thoughts about others. (R.74:64-65). He testified that J.L.C. was not taking medication, or might be taking medication, but did not believe that he needed it. Dr. Pareek further testified that, in his opinion, J.L.C. was not competent to make medication decisions. (R.74:65). He agreed that there was a very substantial likelihood that further deterioration and disability would result if J.L.C. was not under treatment; and if untreated, J.L.C. would likely suffer severe mental, emotional, or physical harm that would result in a loss of ability to function independently. (R74:66-67). Dr. Pareek testified that although he did not have J.L.C.'s entire history, medications are generally very beneficial, and in the past, J.L.C. had been treated with medication. (R.74:69).

Dr. Pareek acknowledged that J.L.C. had been taking Invega at the time of his evaluation, and even while on medication, he was still expressing delusions and paranoia. (R.74:75-77). Dr. Pareek testified that he was not aware of the dosage of Invega that J.L.C. was prescribed, but that the dosage varied. (R.74:75). Dr. Pareek acknowledged that he did not consider J.L.C.'s traumatic brain injury when rendering his opinion. (R.74:77-78).

Page 10 of 28

J.L.C.'s attorney asked Dr. Pareek if he was aware that J.L.C. had a guardian. (R.74:79). The County objected based on relevancy. (R.74:79). The court sustained the objection. (R.74:79). J.L.C.'s attorney again asked Dr. Pareek if he was aware that J.L.C. had a guardian, and Dr. Pareek said he was not sure; however, he testified that guardians cannot force psychotropic medications. (R.74:80-81). J.L.C.'s attorney asked whether Dr. Pareek was an expert on a guardian's powers, and the County objected based on relevancy. (R.74:81). The objection was sustained. (R.74:81).

Judith Roberts, APNP, testified next. She was a nurse practitioner at WRC. (R.74:87-88). Ms. Roberts testified that J.L.C. had prostate cancer and visual impairment, as well as a traumatic brain injury and hyperlipidemia. (R.74:89). Ms. Roberts testified that J.L.C. had declined cancer treatment. (R.74:90). He was receiving palliative care and monitoring. (R.74:90). Ms. Roberts testified that the cancer was not curable, although she believed that treatment could improve J.L.C.'s quality of life. (R.74:91-92). At the time of the hearing, J.L.C. was on an injectable medication, paliperidone. (R.74:93). Ms. Roberts did not believe that J.L.C. would accept the medication voluntarily because he did not want it and did not believe that it helped. (R.74:93). Instead, J.L.C. has stated that, "the voices will never stop, you are giving me medication and it is never going to help." (R.74:96). He also stated, "I do not want to see any more doctors, I do not want any more x-rays." (R.74:97).

Ms. Roberts testified that J.L.C. had been under a guardianship since the year 2020. (R.74:99). When J.L.C.'s attorney attempted to ask more about the guardianship, the County objected on relevancy and also argued that it was a "legal question." (R.74:100-101). The court sustained the objection. (R.74:101).

The final witness was Dr. George Monese, the staff psychiatrist at WRC. (R.74:113). Dr. Monese testified that he diagnosed J.L.C. with schizophrenia. This condition was complicated by a traumatic brain injury that J.L.C. suffered in 2013. (R.74:118-122). Dr. Monese testified that J.L.C. did not believe that he had cancer. (R.74:126). Dr. Monese testified that medical and psychological medications were needed so that J.L.C.'s condition would not worsen. (R.74:128). Dr. Monese testified that he did not believe that J.L.C. was competent to refuse medication. (R.74:128). When asked by the County, Dr. Monese agreed that J.L.C. demonstrated an extremely high probability of disability or deterioration without care and treatment; would be at a high probability of lacking services necessary for his health or safety if not on commitment; and would be at a high probability of suffering severe mental, emotional, or physical harm resulting in his inability to function independently. (R.74:129-130, 133).

Dr. Monese acknowledged that J.L.C.'s traumatic brain injury is permanent. (R.74:136). He further acknowledged that J.L.C. has been under a guardianship of the person since 2020. (*See* R.63:8-13). His guardian has the authority to consent for

11

Page 12 of 28

medication to treat J.L.C.'s physical conditions. Dr. Monese testified that J.L.C. continued to experience hallucinations and delusions even while on medication, but that it was to a lesser degree. (R.74:140-141). Dr. Monese testified that J.L.C.'s mental illness could not be cured, only attenuated. (R.74:146). J.L.C.'s attorney asked Dr. Monese, "are vou aware that the D Standard<sup>5</sup> states there is not a substantial probability of harm if the individual may be provided protective placement or services under Chapter 55?" The County objected, saying it was a "legal question" and "a bit of a misrepresentation, as there is no protective placement ... " and the court sustained the objection. (R.74:144-145).

After the close of evidence, the court instructed the jury on two dangerousness standards, Wis. Stat. §§ 51.20(1)(a)2.d, and 2.e.(R.60:9-10, R.74:159-162).

During closing argument, the County focused on J.L.C.'s unwillingness to accept treatment for his medical conditions. (R.74:167-169; App. 22). The County argued that treating J.L.C.'s mental illness would lead him to accept treatment for his medical conditions. (R.74:169; App.24). The County argued that, although J.L.C.'s condition was not curable, there was potential for treatment. (R.74:170; App.25).

J.L.C.'s counsel argued that J.L.C.'s mental condition was not treatable; and in fact, he was experiencing hallucinations and delusions while

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.d.

Page 13 of 28

medicated. In addition, a traumatic brain injury cannot be cured. (R.74:172,177; App.27, 32). In addition, counsel argued that J.L.C. should have a say in his medical treatment. (R.74:175-177; App.30-32). Also, his medical care could be managed by his guardian. (R.74:175; App.30). Finally, J.L.C. argued that the County did not prove that J.L.C. could not be provided care under chapter 55: "[i]t's their burden to show that, no, he can't get these protective placements, no, he can't get these protective services. It is their burden to tell you that he can't get them. And they didn't tell you that at all." (R.74:176; App.31).

In rebuttal, the County stated that it did not have a "duty to come in here and bring a social worker in here and do a separate report for protective services or placement." (R.74:179; App.34). The County then argued that a chapter 55 was not feasible: "[w]e haven't heard anything about the feasibility of protective placement. I would know because I do those. I do those in addition to the 51s. And, if anything, that would be a witness for the defense to bring in." (R.74:179; App.34). Then the County began to go through Wis. Stat. § 55.12(2) saying, "let me explain to you why protective services and placement aren't a possibility, or this is all per statute. It's not my opinion." (R.74:179-180; App.34-35).

J.L.C.'s attorney objected, but her objection was overruled. (R.74:179-180; App.34-35). The County argued that, the statute, "[d]isallows commitment to a treatment care facility. That is exactly what the Wisconsin Resource Center is." (R.74:180; App.35). The County proceeded to argue that there were practical reasons why protective services were not a possibility. It turned to the patients' rights provision of Wis. Stat. § 55.23(1). (R.74:180; App.35). J.L.C.'s attorney again objected, stating this was not testified to. (R.74:180; App.35). The court responded, "[t]his is statutory. It is the law," and overruled the objection.

statutory. It is the law," and overruled the objection. (R.74:180; App.35). The County proceeded to argue that, "[t]he state prison system has an inherent and overwhelming interest in the security of not only the people that work there, but the people that live there, the other inmates. And it really is at odds with what the defense here is suggesting we should do. It just can't be done." (R.74:180; App.35).

The jury returned verdicts finding that the elements for commitment were met. (R.65). As to the standard of dangerousness, the jury selected both Wis. Stat. §§ 51.20(1)(a)2.d, and 2.e. (R.65:1). The circuit court entered written orders of commitment. It also entered an order authorizing involuntary medication and treatment. (R.49; App.17-18), (R.50; App.19-20).

J.L.C. appealed. First, he argued that the County failed to prove that the chapter 55 exclusion did not apply to him. Second, he argued that the County engaged in improper closing arguments when it relied on facts not in evidence about the chapter 55 exclusion and shifted the burden of proof to J.L.C. He asserted that the appeal was not moot even though the order has expired, with citation to S.A.M., 402 Wis. 2d

379, ¶27. The County did not argue that the appeal was moot.

The court of appeals affirmed. It set forth a lengthy rendition of the case and facts, but ultimately declined to reach the merits. Instead, the court of appeals held that the appeal was moot. J.L.C., No.2023AP200, ¶¶20-22. (App.13-14). It stated that. "our supreme court concluded in *Marathon County v*. D.K... that appeals from expired initial commitment orders are not moot because of collateral consequences such as a firearms ban," but found "that circumstance does not apply here," because J.L.C. is also subject to a firearms ban under his guardianship order and based on his felony conviction. Id., ¶20. (App.13-14). The Court disagreed that S.A.M. stands for the principle that appeals from commitment orders are categorically not moot just because they have expired, and held that, "J.L.C. does not identify any ongoing collateral consequences causally related to the expired initial commitment order in this appeal." Id, ¶¶21-22. (App.13-14). J.L.C. filed a motion for reconsideration, arguing that the appeal was not moot or, alternatively, that it met an exception to the mootness doctrine. The court of appeals denied the motion in a three-line order.

### ARGUMENT

# I. The County failed to disprove the chapter 55 exclusion, and therefore failed to prove that J.L.C. was dangerous as defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 51.20(1)(a)2.d and e.

## A. Legal standards.

The chapter 51 and chapter 55 systems share certain commonalities. State ex re. Watts v. Combined Community Serv. Bd of Milwaukee Cty, 122 Wis. 2d 65, 74, 362 N.W.2d 104 (1985). Both chapters concern individuals who are suffering from mental conditions. Wis. Stat. §§ 51.20(1)(a)1, 51.45(13) and 55.06(2)(c). Both chapters require a finding of dangerousness before involuntary commitment or placement can be imposed. Wis. Stat. §§ 51.20(1)(a)2, 51.45(13)(a)2, 55.06(2)(c).4 Both chapters require treatment in the least restrictive alternative. Wis. Stat. §§ 51.20(13)(f), 51.45(13)(g), 55.06(9)(a)5. And both chapters afford their patients' rights after the commitment or placement has been made. See Wis. Stat. §§ 51.61 and 55.07. See Watts, 122 Wis. 2d. at 71-73.

However, they differ in other fundamental ways. At its most basic terms, chapter 51 is designed to serve individuals with a treatable mental illness, whereas chapter 55 is designed to serve individuals with permanent (or likely to be permanent) conditions, including "serious and persistent" mental illness, degenerative brain disorder, developmental disabilities, or other "like incapacities." *See* Wis. Stat. §55.01(6v); *Fond du Lac County v. Helen E.F.*, 2012 WI 50, ¶21, 340 Wis. 2d 500, 814 N.W.2d 179, Furthermore, chapter 51 commitments are of limited duration—either six or twelve months—whereas chapter 55 protective placements are indefinite, with a right to yearly review. And in order to protectively place an individual or impose protective services, the individual must also have a guardianship of the person. Wis. Stat. § 55.06.

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