**FILED** 10-25-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

Filed 10-25-2023

## STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP0200

In the matter of the mental commitment of J.L.C.:

WINNEBAGO COUNTY,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

J.L.C.,

Case 2023AP000200

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM COMMITMENT AND MEDICATION ORDERS OF THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TERESA S. BASILIERE, PRESIDING

## WINNEBAGO COUNTY'S RESPONSE TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

CLAYTON P. KAWSKI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1066228

Attorneys for Petitioner-Respondent

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

Did the trial evidence show that Wis. Stat. ch. 55 protective placement or protective services would meet J.L.C.'s needs, making a Wis. Stat. ch. 51 commitment unavailable?

The circuit court entered Wis. Stat. ch. 51 commitment and medication orders after accepting the jury's verdict.

This court of appeals did not answer this question.

3. Did the County's closing arguments violate due process and, if they did, was any error harmless?

The circuit court overruled J.L.C.'s objections to the closing arguments.

The court of appeals did not answer this question.

## REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION

The petition for review does not present "special and important reasons" sufficient to warrant review. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r). This Court should deny it for three reasons.

## I. The court of appeals correctly held that this appeal is moot.

First, the court of appeals correctly held that this appeal is most based upon this Court's precedents. There is no reason to take jurisdiction of the case when the mootness issue would be resolved the same way, is not novel, and would not develop or clarify the law, which is already sufficiently clear. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)1., 2.

The court of appeals correctly held that this appeal is moot because "J.L.C. does not identify any ongoing collateral consequences causally related to the expired initial commitment order in this appeal." *Winnebago Cnty. v. J.L.C.*, No. 2023AP0200, 2023 WL 5425244, ¶ 22 (Wis. Ct. App. Aug. 23, 2023) (unpublished).

The court first explained the background facts in detail, including J.L.C.'s criminal and medical history, the circumstances of the instant Wis. Stat. ch. 51 initial-commitment petition, and the August 2022 jury trial, which resulted in the court entering the challenged commitment and medication orders. Id. ¶¶ 1–16. Those facts will not be repeated here. The court's six-month commitment and medication orders expired prior to J.L.C. filing this appeal.  $See\ id$ . ¶ 16.

J.L.C. argued on appeal that: (1) the County failed to prove his dangerousness because the Wis. Stat. ch. 55 exclusion applies, and (2) his due process rights were violated by the County's closing arguments to the jury. *Id*.

The court of appeals determined that it need not resolve J.L.C.'s arguments because doing so "would have no practical effect on the underlying controversy." Id. ¶ 20 (citing *Portage Cnty. v. J.W.K.*, 2019 WI 54, ¶ 11, 386 Wis. 2d 672, 927 N.W.2d 509). "This is so for several reasons." Id.

"First, the six-month commitment orders under review in this initial commitment expired in February 2022," and "J.L.C. is no longer subject to these orders." Id. "And, although [this Court] concluded in Marathon County v. D.K., 2020 WI 8, ¶ 25, 390 Wis. 2d 50, 937 N.W.2d 901, that appeals from expired initial commitment orders are not moot because of collateral consequences such as a firearms ban, that circumstance does not apply here for two reasons." Id. Namely, (1) "J.L.C. is also subject to a firearms ban under his guardianship order," which would remain in effect even if the challenged commitment and medication orders were vacated; and (2) "J.L.C. has been incarcerated for more than three decades after having been convicted of two counts of attempted first-degree murder, and as a convicted felon, he is prohibited from possessing firearms." *Id.* (citing Wis. Stat. § 941.29).

The court recounted that J.L.C. argued that this Court's decision in Sauk County v. S.A.M., 2022 WI 46, 402 Wis. 2d 379, 975 N.W.2d 162, purportedly holds that "appeals from expired commitment orders are never moot due to their continuing collateral consequences." J.L.C., 2023 WL 5425244, ¶ 21 (emphasis court's) (quoting J.L.C.'s Br.). The court rejected the argument, stating that "[n]ever is a strong word and one that the supreme court did not use in deciding S.A.M." Id. "Rather, [this Court] concluded that when an appellant subject to an expired 'recommitment order' asserts that 'ongoing collateral consequences causally related to [the expired recommitment order] could be practically affected by a favorable decision,' the appeal is not moot." Id. (quoting S.A.M., 402 Wis. 2d 379, ¶ 37).

J.L.C. did not identify "any ongoing collateral consequences causally related to the expired initial commitment order in this appeal," and is banned from possessing a firearm "under both the guardianship and the convicted felon statute," so his appeal is moot. Id. ¶ 22.

This analysis was correct, leaving no work for this Court to do or a sufficient reason to take this case. This Court would merely be repeating the analysis regarding J.L.C.'s failure to argue how ongoing collateral consequences prevent his case from becoming moot. The petition should be denied.

# II. This Court should not revisit mootness when it recently resolved that issue in *D.K.* and *S.A.M.*, and J.L.C. did not identify or argue any ongoing collateral consequences of the challenged orders.

Second, there is no valid reason for this Court to take jurisdiction of this case when it recently resolved the mootness issue in *D.K.* and *S.A.M.* In those cases, unlike here, the party subject to a commitment identified and argued ongoing collateral consequences of the challenged orders.

In Marathon County v. D.K., 2020 WI 8, 390 Wis. 2d 50, 937 N.W.2d 901, this Court focused on the collateral consequence of a firearms ban. Unlike J.L.C., D.K. specifically argued that his case was not moot because his "involuntary commitment order prohibit[ed] him from possessing a firearm, which would otherwise be his right." *Id.* ¶ 20. This Court observed that "[a]s a result of his civil commitment, D.K. is 'prohibited from possessing any firearm.' And the '[e]xpiration of the mental commitment proceeding [did] not terminate this restriction." Id. ¶ 25 (alterations in original) (quoting circuit court's order). Although D.K.'s "commitment ha[d] expired, [he] is still subject to the lasting collateral consequence of a firearms ban," which is "no minor consequence" in light of his Second Amendment rights. *Id.* "On appeal, a decision in D.K.'s favor would void the firearms ban and therefore have a 'practical effect," so his commitment "is not a moot issue because it still subjects him to the collateral consequence of a firearms ban." Id.

In S.A.M., this Court addressed the collateral consequence of a firearms ban and other potential collateral consequences of a recommitment order. See S.A.M., 402 Wis. 2d 379, ¶ 27. Unlike J.L.C., S.A.M. specifically argued that "three collateral consequences from his now-expired recommitment order render his appeal not moot: (1) [a] firearms ban; (2) the liability for the cost of his care while committed; and (3) the stigma associated with a mental-health commitment." Id. ¶ 19.

This Court explained that "an appeal from an order like S.A.M.'s is not moot when the direct or collateral consequences of the order persist and vacatur of that order would practically affect those consequences." Id. "[W]hether a collateral consequence renders an appeal not moot turns on the existence of a 'causal relationship' between a legal consequence and the challenged order." Id. ¶ 20.

This Court highlighted that in D.K. it "held that an appeal of an expired <u>initial</u> commitment order is not moot because the order collaterally subjects the committed person to a continuing firearms ban." Id. ¶ 21. Voiding the firearms ban would be a practical effect that has a causal relationship to the successful appeal of an expired initial commitment order, so the appeal is not moot.  $See\ id$ . The question before the Court in S.A.M., however, was "whether that same rationale applies to <u>recommitment</u> orders." Id. ¶ 22.

This Court held that prevailing in a recommitment-order appeal would "practically alter a committed person's 'record and reputation' for dangerousness, a factor a reviewing court must consider when weighing a petition to cancel a firearms ban." Id. ¶ 23 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 51.20(13)(cv)1m.b.). An overturned recommitment order "might influence the reviewing court's weighing of whether restoring gun rights would be consistent with the 'public interest." Id. (quoting Wis. Stat. § 51.20(13)(cv)1m.b.). These "practical effects" are "no minor

consequence." Id. (quoting D.K., 390 Wis. 2d 50, ¶ 25). The causal relationship between these effects and vacatur of an expired recommitment order renders such an appeal not moot. Id.

This Court also held that "a person's mandatory liability for the cost of the care received during a recommitment is a collateral consequence that renders recommitment appeals not moot." Id. ¶ 24. "Under Wis. Stat. § 46.10(2), a committed person like S.A.M. 'shall be liable for the cost of the care, maintenance, services and supplies' related to each commitment period." Id. (quoting Wis. Stat. § 46.10(2)). Therefore, "a direct causal relationship exists between vacating an expired recommitment order and removing the liability it creates, sufficient to render recommitment appeals not moot." Id.

This Court "refrain[ed] from addressing S.A.M.'s stigma argument" or any mootness exceptions. Id. ¶ 27 n.5.

Lower courts have not struggled to apply this Court's mootness precedents. Recently—in a case J.L.C.'s petition cites and that is in his appendix—the court of appeals carefully considered mootness based upon the collateral consequences that the petitioner argued in S.A.M. See Winnebago Cnty. v. C.H., No. 2023AP0505, 2023 WL 5600087, ¶¶ 13–17 (Wis. Ct. App. Aug. 30, 2023); (Pet. 6; Pet. App. 55–67). The court of appeals had its doubts about whether any of the three collateral consequences applied in C.H.'s case, see C.H., 2023 WL 5600087, ¶ 17, but the court nonetheless addressed the merits of the commitment order. Id. ¶¶ 18–25.

J.L.C.'s case should not get that benefit of the doubt. Unlike the parties in *D.K.* and *S.A.M.*, J.L.C. did not identify or argue *any* ongoing collateral consequences that he believes make his appeal non-moot. This is an important distinguishing factor in this case that weighs against taking

it: J.L.C. forfeited his mootness argument by not substantiating it. There is no further law-development function for this Court to engage in when it has already resolved mootness in Wis. Stat. ch. 51 commitment cases. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a), (c).

## III. If this appeal is not moot or is subject to a mootness exception, the County would prevail on the merits in any event.

Third, even if this appeal is not moot or is subject to a mootness exception, the County would nonetheless prevail on the merits, making further review unnecessary.

On appeal, J.L.C. raised two issues: (1) whether the Wis. Stat. ch. 55 exclusion applied; and (2) whether the County violated his due process rights by statements counsel made during rebuttal closing argument. See~J.L.C., 2023 WL 5425244, ¶ 1. J.L.C. would like to raise these issues in this Court. (Pet. 3–4, 16–23.)

The County would prevail on the first issue because the trial evidence showed that J.L.C. was not eligible for either protective placement or protective services under Wis. Stat. ch. 55. In *Fond du Lac County v. Helen E.F.*, 2012 WI 50, ¶ 13, 340 Wis. 2d 500, 814 N.W.2d 179, this Court explained that "ch. 55 was specifically tailored by the legislature to provide for long-term care of individuals with incurable disorders, while ch. 51 was designed to facilitate the treatment of mental illnesses suffered by those capable of rehabilitation."

The trial testimony concerning J.L.C.'s condition and treatment plan shows that Wis. Stat. ch. 51 offered the more-appropriate mechanism for treating him. Specifically, Dr. George Monese testified that J.L.C. is a proper subject for treatment because he has a "treatable condition," schizophrenia, that "cannot be cured, but it can be arrested so that he doesn't get worse." (R. 74:128.)

Dr. Monese testified that J.L.C.'s delusions and hallucinations are "significantly attenuated or controlled when he is taking treatment." (R. 74:185.) The auditory hallucinations, while still present, "have been attenuated" by treatment, including medication. (R. 74:146.)

No testimony was presented suggesting that J.L.C.'s schizophrenia and attendant symptoms are untreatable. Absent such evidence, there was no basis to conclude that the Wis. Stat. ch. 55 exclusion was applicable to J.L.C. Instead, the testimony of Drs. Monese and Yogesh Pareek and Nurse Judith Roberts, showed that J.L.C. was mentally ill, a proper subject for treatment, and a danger to himself or others. *See Langlade Cnty. v. D.J.W.*, 2020 WI 41, ¶ 29, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277.

The County would also prevail on the merits of the due-process issue. "[C]losing argument is improper when it so infects the trial with unfairness as to make the conviction a denial of due process." State v. Adams, 221 Wis. 2d 1, 19, 584 N.W.2d 695 (Ct. App. 1998). "Counsel is allowed considerable latitude in closing arguments, with discretion given to the trial court in determining the propriety of the argument." State v. Burns, 2011 WI 22, ¶ 48, 332 Wis. 2d 730, 798 N.W.2d 166. Counsel "may comment on the evidence, detail the evidence, argue from it to a conclusion and state that the evidence convinces him and should convince the jurors." Id. (citation omitted). Counsel "should aim to 'analyze the evidence and present facts with a reasonable interpretation to aid the jury in calmly and reasonably drawing just inferences and arriving at a just conclusion upon the main or controlling questions." Id. (citation omitted). "It is impermissible, therefore, for" counsel "to suggest the jury reach its verdict by considering facts not in the evidence." *Id*.

Filed 10-25-2023

The County's closing arguments did not "infect[] the trial with unfairness as to make the [jury's verdict] a denial of due process." Adams, 221 Wis. 2d at 19.

First, J.L.C. cannot rebut the presumption that the jurors followed the circuit court's instructions. See State v. Truax, 151 Wis. 2d 354, 362, 444 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1989). Specifically, regarding the County's references to the statutes and legal standards, the court instructed the jurors to "answer the questions in the verdict according to the evidence and my instructions in the law." (R. 74:155 (emphasis added).) Thus, despite the County's statements about the meaning of the law, the court made it clear to the jurors that only its recitation of the law was to be followed. And in overruling J.L.C.'s objection, the court correctly explained to the jury that what the County argued accurately reflected "the law." (R. 74:180.)

Second, the circuit court also instructed the jurors that the attorneys' arguments are "not evidence" and that "[i]f any remarks [by counsel] suggest certain facts not in evidence, disregard those suggestions." (R. 74:155.) To the extent that the County argued facts outside the trial record about his personal experience handling Wis. Stat. ch. 55 cases, the court instructed the jurors to disregard such extraneous remarks and consider only the evidence. This Court presumes that the instructions were followed. See Truax, 151 Wis. 2d at 362.

Third, even assuming that the closing arguments were erroneous, any error was harmless. Harmless-error principles apply in Wis. Stat. ch. 51 proceedings. "The court shall, in every stage of an action, disregard any error or defect in the pleadings or proceedings that does not affect the

substantial rights of either party." Wis. Stat. § 51.20(10)(c); see also S.Y. v. Eau Claire Cnty., 162 Wis. 2d 320, 338–39, 469 N.W.2d 836 (1991); D.S. v. Racine Cnty., 142 Wis. 2d 129, 135–36, 416 N.W.2d 292 (1987); Sheboygan Cnty. v. M.W., 2022 WI 40, ¶ 64, 402 Wis. 2d 1, 974 N.W.2d 733 (Ziegler, C.J., dissenting).

"For an error 'to affect the substantial rights' of a party, there must be a reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the outcome of the action or proceeding at issue."  $Martindale\ v.\ Ripp,\ 2001\ WI\ 113,\ \P\ 32,\ 246\ Wis.\ 2d\ 67,\ 629\ N.W.2d\ 698\ (citation\ omitted).\ "A reasonable possibility of a different outcome is a possibility sufficient to 'undermine confidence in the outcome." <math>Id.$  (citation omitted). Thus, "the harmless error inquiry is whether it is beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have come to the same conclusion absent the error."  $State\ v.\ Magett,\ 2014\ WI\ 67,\ \P\ 29,\ 355\ Wis.\ 2d\ 617,\ 850\ N.W.2d\ 42.$

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